STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

Certiorari to Richland County
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge MAR 30 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Taurus Watts

Petitioner,

RECEIVED

MAR 27 2017

v.

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000500

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

PRO SE BRIEF

Date: 3.21.17

Taurus Watts #324820
Taurus Watts #324820

4460 Broad River Rd.
Columbia, S.C. 29210
Pro Se Litigant

Statement of Issue on Appeal....

Statement of the Case....

Facts....

Arguments....

1. Is there any evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's determination that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to call witnesses and submit evidence to support the defense theory?
2. Is there any evidence of probative value which supports the PCR court's conclusion that counsel that counsel was not ineffective in failing to present a defense, in that counsel failing to present Kamelah Wilson as witness?
3. Is there any evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's conclusion that counsel was not ineffective in ~~failing to move to sever the Appellant's trial from that~~ of co-defendant Wray?
4. Is there any evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's conclusion that counsel was not ineffective in failing to move to question members of the jury on their impartiality?

Conclusion.....

Table of Authorities

Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 135-37, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed. 2d. 476 (1968)

Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 665 S.E.2d. 596 (2008)

Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d. 624 (1989)

Cobbs v. State, 3605 S.C. 299, 408 S.E.2d. 223 (1991)

Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 565, 85 S.Ct. 1628, 1644, 14 L.E.2d. 543 (1965)

Frazer v. United States, 18 F.3d. 778, 785 (9th Cir. 1994)

Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 721-722, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 1641-1642, 6 L.E.2d. 751 (1961)

Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 374 (1986)

Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162, 106 S.Ct. 1758, 90 L.E.2d. 137 (1986)

McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970)

Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d. 672 (2000)

Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478 (1986)

Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 351, 86 S.Ct. 1507, 1516, 16 L.E.2d. 600, 613 (1966)

Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d. 560, 562 (1994)

State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 315, 479 S.E.2d. 517, 519 (Ct.App. 1996)

State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d. 315 (2002)

State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d. 856, 860 (Ct.App. 2002)

State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 657, 623 S.E.2d. 122, 129 (Ct.App. 2005)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 S.C. 668, 688-694 (1984)

United States Ex. Rel Partee v. Lane, 926 F.2d. 694, 702 (7th Cir. 1991)

Other Authorities

ABA Standard Relating to the Administration of Criminal Justice
Standard 4-4.1.....

Jury Decision Making: 45 years of Empirical research on Deliberating
groups, Psychology, Public Policy, and Law March 2000 Vol.7, No.3, 622-
7727...

South Carolina Code Ann. §14-3-320...

South Carolina Code Ann. §14-3-330...

South Carolina Code Ann. §14-8-200 (Supp. 1999)

South Carolina Constitution, Art. I, §14....

South Carolina Constitution, Art. V, §5....

South Carolina Constitution, Art. V, §9....

United States Constitution VI....

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. ~~Did the lower court err in failing to find that the Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel, in that counsel failed to present a defense, failed to move to sever, and failed to question members of the jury on their impartiality?~~

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

~~The Appellant was indicted in August 2007 in Richland County, along with Tremain Wray. Indictment. The Appellant was charged with murder (case number 2007-GS-40-5913). Indictment.~~

On October 5, 2009, the Appellant and Wray proceeded to a jury trial in the Richland County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable J. Michelle Childs. A guilty verdict was returned on October 15, 2009. Verdict. The Appellant was sentenced to a thirty-five year term of incarceration on the same day that the verdict was returned. Judgment.

The Appellant pursued a direct appeal, arguing: (1) the trial judge erred in refusing to declare a mistrial when the prosecutor through improper leading questions, insinuated that the witness was scared to talk with police and told an investigator that they were going to her killed, implying that she was afraid of the Appellant and his co-defendant; and (2) the trial judge erred in refusing to declare a mistrial when a State's witness testified that he saw the co-defendant and the Appellant in the "holding tank" after he had been specifically instructed by the judge not to testify as to seeing the Appellant in a holding cell. Appellant Brief. In an opinion issued on June 1, 2012, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court (appeal number 2012-UP-381. Opinion, 6/1/12. The remittitur was issued on August 10, 2012. Remittitur.

On May 30, 2013, the Appellant filed an application post-conviction relief in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas. Post-conviction Application. The Appellant argued that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in failing to present a defense, failing to move to sever, and failing to question members of the jury on their impartiality. Post-conviction Application. An evidentiary hearing was held on December 10, 2015, in which the Appellant testified. The application was dismissed on March 4, 2016.

Appendix p.1843. The court found that Kamelah Wilson, who would have testified that she was at the club on the evening at issue, was not a credible witness. Appendix p.1838. Wilson would have testified that she did not observe the Appellant at the club and that the club owner, Ricky Jacobs, was across the street from the club at the time of the shooting and could not have witnessed the shooting. Appendix p.1838 at 5. At best, Wilson's testimony merely impeached Jacob's testimony. Appendix p. 1838 at 5. Further, counsel was not ineffective in failing to call Deputy Weldon Gregory to testify. Appendix p.1839 at 6. Gregory took Jacobs' statement at the crime scene, with Jacobs stating that two men who were denied entry to the club were driving the white Nissan at issue. Appendix p.1839 Exhibit (1) p.1844. The court found that Jacobs was thoroughly cross-examined, thus alleviating the need for Gregory's testimony. Appendix p.1839. Regarding the failure to move for severance, counsel's post-trial statement that she could have moved to sever was not given credence by the trial court, as the Appellant was not prejudiced by a joint trial. Appendix p.1890. The court found that the claim regarding juror partiality rested on speculation, as no evidence was presented that any other juror overheard Juror Number 36's biased statements regarding the Appellant. Appendix p.1842.

The Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. Notice of Appeal.

FACTS

The events giving rise to this case occurred on June 30, 2007. Transcript, volume 2 at 20-25. On said date, Demuria Hank Johnson was shot in the leg outside of the H&J Club, a night club in Columbia South Carolina. Transcript, volume 2 at 20-25. Johnson died as a result of the gunshot wound. Transcript, volume 2 at 20-25.

Johnson went to the club with Travis Malone, James Goodwin, Stephanie Boston, Verda Roberts, and Charlie Bates. Transcript, volume 2 at 20-25. The group arrived at the club between 1:00 a.m. Transcript, volume 2 at 20-25. At some point, a fight broke out inside the club as two men approached Bates as he danced with Jalicca Lisa Johnson. Transcript, volume 2 at 141. The owner of the club decided to close the club for the evening after the fight broke out. Transcript, volume 3 at 33-35.

Lisa Johnson testified that she arrived at the club at approximately 3:00 a.m. on the date at issue. Transcript, volume 2 at 239. Johnson knew the Appellant, because he is Johnson's nephew's uncle. Transcript, volume 2 at 235. Johnson was approached at the club by an unknown male known as "T-something." Transcript, volume 2 at 243, Johnson then went to the dance floor, where she was approached by Bates. Transcript, volume 2 at 240-241. Bates and Johnson had previously dated. Transcript, volume 2 at 240-241. "T-something" approached Johnson again. Transcript, volume 2 at 244-246. "T-something" and Bates had a disagreement, and Bates threw a drink on "T-something." Transcript, volume 2 at 244-246. The bar room fight started. Transcript, volume 2 at 244-246.

After the club closed, the club owner, Ricky Jacobs, witnessed the Appellant and co-defendant Tremain Wray approach the club. Transcript, volume 3 at 37-38. The two men returned to a tan Suburban, with Wray in the driver's seat. Transcript, volume 3 39-40. According to the club owner, the Appellant possessed a firearm. Transcript, volume 3 at 40. The vehicle drove toward Farrow Road. Transcript, volume 3 at 46. According to the club owner, shots were fired from the driver's side of the vehicle toward the club. Transcript, volume 3 at 46. Shots were also fired from a white Isuzu Rodeo as it was leaving the club. Transcript, volume 3 at 46-50. Johnson was struck by a bullet, causing his death. Transcript, volume 3 at 255; Transcript, volume 6 at 145.

Shortly after the shooting, officers stopped the Rodeo. Transcript, volume 3 at 207. Inside the vehicle, police found one round of .38 caliber ammunition and several rounds of 9 millimeter ammunition. Transcript, volume 3 at 207. At the hospital, police recovered a fired 9 millimeter bullet from the pants of the deceased. Transcript, volume 3 at 255; Transcript, volume 6 at 145.

In May 2009, Brian Watson, who was incarcerated for committing an armed robbery, claimed to have information regarding the shooting at issue. Transcript, volume 4 at 253. Watson testified that on June 30, 2007, he looked out his back door and saw a truck at his niece's, Rashonda Simpson's, house. Transcript, volume 4 at 253. Jarrell Dansby, Simpson's husband at the time, called Watson and asked him to come to the house. transcript, volume 4 at 253. Dansby showed Watson a bag with a firearm contained therein. Transcript, volume

4 at 253. Watson, Simpson, and Dansby drove to a creek and disposed of the firearm. Transcript, volume 4 at 257-260.

Dansby testified that on the Saturday before July 4, 2007, his cousin, Wray, called and asked if he could leave a firearm at Dansby's residence. Transcript, volume 4 at 178. In exchange for Dansby's testimony, a warrant was withdrawn charging him with being an accessory to murder after the fact. Transcript, volume 4 at 174.

Issue 1: Is there any evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's determination that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to call witnesses and submit evidence to support the defense theory?

In the early morning hours of June 30, 2007, Demuria Hank Johnson was shot in the leg outside of the H&J Club, a night club in Northeast Columbia. Johnson died as a result of the gunshot wound. Johnson went to the club with Travis Malone, James Lamont Goodwin, Stephanie Boston, Verda Roberts, and Charlie Bates. The group arrived at the club between 1:00 AM and 2:00 AM. (App. p.242,lines 20-25). At some point a fight broke out inside the club after two men approached Charlie Bates as he was on the dance floor with Jalicca Lisa Johnson. (App. p.311,lines 14-17). The owner of the club, Ricky Jacobs, testified that he decided to close the club when the fight broke out. (App. p.513-515).

Lisa Johnson testified that on June 30, 2007, she arrived at the club at approximately 3:00 AM. (App. p.409,lines 9-16). Johnson knew Petitioner because he is her nephew's uncle. (App. p.405,lines 21-p.406,lines 1-6). Johnson testified that she was approached by an unknown man who made advances toward her. She testified that this unknown man was named "T-something." (App. p.413,lines 5-20). Johnson confirmed that the man named "T-something" was not Petitioner Taurus Watts. (App. p.444,lines 25-p.445,lines 1-5). She testified that she did not continue talking to "T-something," but went to the dance floor. At the dance floor, she was approached by Charlie Bates. Bates and Johnson had dated on and off again for a couple of years. (App. p.410, line 17-p.411,lines 1-3). "T-something" approached her again. At that point "T-something" and Bates had a disagreement. Bates threw a drink on "T-something" and a fight erupted. (App. p.414-416). Lisa Johnson testified that many people became involved in the fight, including Brian Johnson. (App. p.416,lines 16-23). According to Lisa Johnson "T-something" was Brian Johnson's homeboy. (App. p.418,lines 7-13).

Charlie Bates testified that he was on the dance floor with Lisa Johnson when two males approached him and got in his face. (App.p. 314,lines 14-25). Bates testified that his uncle,Travis Malone,Hank and Lamont intervened and then "[e]verything went crazy." (App.p315, lines 1-5). Although Bates denied throwing a drink,(App.p.329,lines 16-17). his aunt,Stephanie Boston,testified that Bates threw a drink. (App.p.282,line 22-p.283,lines 1-2). Verda Roberts is Bates' mom and Travis Malone is his uncle. Hank Johnson and Lamont Goodwin were

friends of Malone.

Brian Johnson testified that he got involved in the altercation at the H&J Club on June 30, 2007, after somebody threw a drink in his friend, Darius White's Face. (App. p. 486, line 23-p.487, lines 1-17). Johnson testified that at some point during the fight inside the club somebody yelled out something about a gun. (App. p. 493-495). The club's owner, Ricky Jacobs confirmed that he saw a man he did not know backing out of the club with a gun in his hand. (App. p.554, lines 1-12).

2 **Jacobs was the State's key witness and the sole witness to the shooting that took place outside of the club.** Jacobs testified that after the fight started, he stepped outside and saw Petitioner and Wray approaching the club. He told the two men that he was closing the club. (App. p.517, line 1-p.518, lines 1-17). There was no evidence to establish that Petitioner and Wray were involved in the fight inside the club. Jacobs testified that the two men returned to their car, a tan Suburban. (App. p.519, lines 12-18). The co-defendant, Wray, got into the driver's side and Petitioner got into the passenger side. (App. p.519, line 19-p.520, lines 1-3). According to Jacobs, Petitioner was holding a gun. (App. p.520, lines 4-10). Jacobs testified that the tan Suburban drove towards Farrow Road. (App. p.522, lines 13-22). Then, according to Jacobs, shots were fired from the driver's side of the tan Suburban towards the club. (App. p. 526, lines 2-13). Jacobs testified that shots were also fired from a white Isuzu Rodeo as it was leaving the club. (App. p.526-530).

The first officer on the scene after the shooting was Ray Weldon Gregory with the Richland County Sheriff's Department. (App p.1780, lines 18-25). Deputy Gregory was not called as a witness a trial. At the PCR hearing Deputy Gregory testified that he spoke with the owner of the club, Ricky Jacobs, and prepared a report. (App. p.1781, lines 6-18). The report was entered in evidence as Applicant Exhibit #1. (App. p.1781, lines 19-25; pp.1844-1845). Deputy Gregory testified that Jacobs told him that the vehicle involved with the shooting was a white nissan with black stripes down the side. (App. p.1782, line 23-p.1783, lines 1-4). The report lists suspect number two as an unknown black male with close cut hair cut with striped shirt. (App. p.1845). Jacobs told Deputy Gregory that suspect number two fired over the top of the vehicle towards the club. (App. p.1844). when

asked if Jacobs had given the deputy the names of the suspects, would the deputy have listed the names on the report, Deputy Weldon answered, "Probably." (App. p.1782,lines 20-22). Both suspects were listed as unknown.

At trial, however, Jacobs admitted that he knew both Petitioner and co-defendant Wray. Jacobs admitted that he has known Petitioner for twenty years and Petitioner's mom worked for Jacobs. (App. p.548, lines 13-16;p.568,line 11-p.569,lines 1-14). Jacobs admitted that he has known co-defendant Wray for several years, knew his uncles and knew where he lived. (App. p.614,lines 14-25).

At trial Investigator McRae with the Richland county Sheriff's Department testified that Jacobs gave him the first name Taurus and a description at the scene. (App. p.1484,lines 4-15). In a later phone call to the investigator Jacobs provided the last name as Watts or Watson. (App. p.1509,line 19-p.1510,lines 1-10). In this same phone call Jacobs provided more information on the driver but claimed that he only knew the driver's first name as Tremaine. (App. p.1511, lines 13-16).

Shortly after the shooting, Deputy Galinski stopped a white Isuzu Rodeo matching the vehicle identified by Jacobs. (App.p.683,line 3-p.684,lines 1-19). Jacobs initially told Deputy Gregory that the vehicle was possibly a white Nissan. Deputy Galinski testified that a Nissan Pathfinder and an Isuzu Rodeo are very similar in model and style. (App. p.695,lines 2-9). The driver of the Isuzu Rodeo was identified as Luther Centural Landrum,Jr. (App. p.686,lines 7-10;p.699,lines 23-24). The passenger was identified as Earl Jerome Green. (App. p.686,lines 14-17);p.700,lines 3-7). The driver and passenger matched the description that Jacobs gave to Deputy Gregory. They were two black males and the driver had dreads and the passenger had short hair and a yellow shirt with stripes. (App. p.685,lines 5-12). Deputy Galinski found one round of 38 caliber ammunition and some rounds of 9 millimeter ammunition in the white Rodeo. (App. p.687,lines 18-23). At the hospital another officer recovered a fired 9 millimeter bullet from the pants of the deceased. (App. p.734,line 3-p.735,lines 1-12;App. p.1433,lines 4-6;p.1434,lines 5-10). Investigator Collins, an expert in firearms and tool mark examination, testified that the bullet recovered from the hospital and two fired bullet jackets recovered at the scene had all been fired by the same

gun. (App. p.1435,lines 13-17). Investigator Collins also examined ten fired 9 millimeter Luger caliber cartridge cases recovered from the scene of the shooting. (App. p.1433,lines 6-7). Investigator ~~Collins testified that the ten cartridge cases were fired by one~~ gun but he could not say that the same gun fired the cartridge cases and the three recovered bullets because no firearm was submitted for comparison. (App. p.1448,lines 4-17).

Investigator Bouknight conduct GSR tests on the Isuzu Rodeo. The investigator, however, left the GSR kit in his locker for 7 months and when it was tested, it tested negative for gunshot residue. (App. pp.755-773;App. p.1365,lines 12-p.1366,lines 1-4). Five hours following the shooting, GSR tests were conducted on the hands of Landrum and Greene, the driver and passenger of the white Isuzu Rodeo. (App. p.1398,line 22-p.1399,lines 1-7). When Deputy Galinski initially stopped the white Isuzu Rodeo, he did not have paper bags to place on the hands of the stopped subjects to preserve any possible gun shot residue. (App. p.694,lines 6-22). Deputy Galinski was instructed to simply make sure the subjects did not wash their hands. (App. p.694,lines 8-13). Landrum and Greene were finally swabbed for GSR and when the results were examined, not surprisingly, both tested negative for gunshot residue. (App. pp.1327-1331). The State's GSR expert concealed that the fact that the subject's hands were not bagged could effect the reliability of the test. (App. p.1397, lines 1-21). The occupants of the white Isuzu Rodeo were not charged in connection with the shooting. A search warrant was executed on the tan Suburban, and a GSR kit obtained. This test revealed the existence of 16 rounded lead particles in the interior of the Suburban. No weapons or ammunition were located in the Suburban.

During the PCR hearing trial counsel admitted that the main strategy was to try and discredit Jacobs. (App. p.1804,lines 1-17). Jacobs claimed that the only person he talked with on the night of the shooting was investigator McRae. (App. p.602,lines 4-6). Trial counsel did not attempt to impeach Jacobs with Deputy Gregory's report or ask about statements Jacobs made to Deputy Gregory. Trial counsel failed to call Deputy Gregory as a witness to establish critical inconsistencies between Jacobs' trial testimony and his initial report to Deputy Gregory. Deputy Gregory's testimony would have established that Jacobs initially did not identify Petitioner or his co-defendant

by name despite knowing both of them. Deputy Gregory's report would have established that Jacobs initially stated that suspect number two fired over the top of the white SUV toward the club. (App. p. 1844). ~~In contrast, at trial Jacobs claimed that the passenger in the white Isuzu Rodeo sat up on the door of the car and only shot one time up in the air. (App. p.528, line 24-p.529, line 1). There is no mention of a second vehicle firing shots in Deputy Gregory's report.~~

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