ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RECEIVED

JUL 31 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

July 31, 2017

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court
Post Office Box 11330
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

Re: Taurus Watts, #324820 v. State of South Carolina
Appellate Case No.: 2016-000500
Lower Court Case No.: 2013-CP-40-3226

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed for filing are the original and six (6) copies of the **Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari** in the above-referenced case. By copy of this letter we are serving the Petitioner in his *pro se* capacity and the Office of Appellate Defense.

Sincerely,

J. Clayton Mitchell
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 101443

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

Lamont testified that as they were heading back towards the cars from the club, he heard gunshots coming from the road. (App. p. 378). He did not see who was shooting. (App. p. 379). He could not say how many shots were fired. (App. p. 379). He indicated that it sounded like one gun, but he was not sure how many weapons were fired. (App. p. 380). Other witnesses testified

that they believed more than one gun was fired. (App. p. 258-59; 262). After learning that the victim was shot, the group then drove to Providence Northeast Hospital. (App. p. 253; 286).

Lisa testified she heard gunshots as she was getting to the kitchen door of the club. (App. p. 420). She could not say how many shots she heard because they were too fast. (App. p. 422). Lisa testified that she thought she saw Petitioner inside the club that night/early morning. (App. p. 464). Ricky Jacobs also indicated that he saw both Petitioner and codefendant Wray inside the club that night, although this was information he had not mentioned prior to his trial testimony. (App. p. 554-55; 608). Ricky Jacobs, the owner of H&J club, testified that after the fight, he closed the club early. (App. p. 515). He had the disc jockey stop the music and turned the lights up. (App. p. 515). Jacobs then walked outside and headed across the street to move his car. (App. p. 515-16). As he walked under the canopy where old gas pumps were at the convenience store beside the club, Jacobs saw Petitioner and codefendant Wray walking towards the club. (App. p. 518). Jacobs told the two men that the club was closing, and there was no need for them to go back. (App. p. 518). He noted that Petitioner said okay, and turned around to leave. (App. p. 518). Jacobs then observed Petitioner walking towards a tan or champagne colored Suburban. (App. p. 518). Both Petitioner and codefendant Wray got into the Suburban, with Petitioner getting in the passenger's seat. (App. p. 517-18). Jacobs noted that he had seen codefendant Wray drive that vehicle before. (App. p. 518-19).

Jacobs saw Petitioner had a black gun and that his hand was covered in cloth. (App. p. 520-21). Jacobs testified that Petitioner said, "I've got something for that," to Jacobs when Jacobs saw the gun. (App. p. 620). Jacobs identified Petitioner and codefendant Wray in photo lineup and identified the Suburban in a photo. (App. p. 534; 537; 538-39; 547-48).

Jacobs testified that the Suburban pulled out and headed down Hardscrabble Road towards Farrow Road. (App. p. 521). Jacobs heard a shot and then heard rapid fire. (App. p. 522-23). He could not tell how many shots were fired. (App. p. 523). He saw shots were being fired from the driver's side of the Suburban. (App. p. 524). The shots were being fired towards the club. (App. p. 524). He could not see who was shooting. (App. p. 524). Jacobs then saw a white Isuzu Rodeo leave the scene. (App. p. 526). Jacobs testified the passenger of the Rodeo sat up on the door and shot a pistol into the air one time. (App. p. 529-30).

While the murder weapon was not recovered by law enforcement, three witnesses testified about the disposal of the firearm. (App. p. 1152-1231).¹ Rashonda Simpson, who was married to codefendant Wray's cousin, testified that on July 1, 2007, she got into an argument with her husband, Jarrell Dansby, because he was digging a hole in their backyard to purportedly bury the murder weapon. (App. p. 880-83). She later saw Dansby walk over to her uncle, Brian Watson. (App. p. 884). Simpson testified that Watson took the gun apart. (App. p. 885-86). Watson and Dansby then put the gun in a book bag and left home. (App. p. 885). When they returned approximately forty-five minutes later, they did not have the book bag or the gun. (App. p. 885). Simpson testified that Dansby told her that they had thrown the gun into a river. (App. p. 895). Dansby testified that codefendant Wray asked if he could hide his gun at Dansby's house to hide it from his grandmother. (App. p. 919-20). Dansby enlisted Watson to help dispose of the gun. (App. p. 924). Watson testified that he threw the gun and the clip into a creek. (App. p. 999-1000).

¹ These witnesses were not located until the start of Petitioner's original trial date in trial in May of 2009, when Brian Watson, contacted the solicitor's office and indicated that he had information regarding the disposal and location of the murder weapon. Based on this information, the court granted the State's motion for continuance over Petitioner's objection to allow the State additional time to locate the murder weapon. Despite numerous attempts and tactics, including a dive team, the murder weapon was never found.

PCR Hearing

Gregory testified at the PCR hearing that he was the first responding officer. (App. p. 1780). He testified that it was his job to secure the scene and preserve any evidence. (App. p. 1781). Gregory's report was introduced by PCR counsel. (App. p. 1844-45). Gregory testified that he briefly spoke to Jacobs who told him that "two gentleman had tried to come in the club, and he told them that the club was closed . . . and nobody else could come in." (App. p. 1782).

Gregory's report states in pertinent part:

Compl states two Susp's attempted to enter the club and Compl told Susp's he was closed. Compl states of the Susp's made a comment to the effect 'I've got something for you.' Compl states Susp's left the location and a few minutes later Compl states a white vehicle SUV with the Susp's in it began shooting toward the club. Compl described the vehicle possibly being a white Nissan with a black stripe down the side. Compl states Susp #2 fired over the top of the vehicle.

(App. p. 1844).

Discussion

There is probative evidence to support the PCR court's findings that Counsel was not deficient in failing to call Gregory to testify. Additional, his testimony would have been inconsequential and would not have changed the result of the trial. Counsel made the strategic decision to attack Jacobs' testimony through cross-examination rather than calling Gregory. "Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

Not only did Counsel conduct a thorough investigation of the case and into possible witnesses, she made the reasonable determination that calling witnesses would not have been in Petitioner's best interests. Counsel noted that there were four or five witnesses ready to testify in

Petitioner's case but she decided not to call any of them. (App. p. 1809). Counsel noted that Jacobs' testimony was the crux of the State's case. (App. p. 1807). While Counsel had reservations about her strategy after the fact, she conceded that, at the time, she believed it was in Petitioner's best interests to not call any witnesses to preserve final closing argument. (App. p. 1831). This was a reasonable determination. Gregory's testimony would not have added much substance to the case and would only have provided a few points for cross examination of Jacobs. Furthermore, law enforcement officers are typically not good witnesses for the defense.

In support of this contention, Petitioner cites to Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 665 S.E.2d 596 (2008).² However, since Miller, this Court has reexamined third-party guilt claims, notably in State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 341, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013) cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 400, 190 L. Ed. 2d 289 (U.S.S.C. 2014). The admissibility of evidence of third-party guilt is governed by State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941). In Gregory, the South Carolina Supreme Court held evidence of third-party guilt that only tends to raise a conjectural inference that the third party, rather than the defendant, committed the crime should be excluded. Id. at 105, 16 S.E.2d at 534. Furthermore, to be admissible, evidence of third-party guilt must be "limited to such facts as are inconsistent with [the defendant's] own guilt, and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence." Cope, 405 S.C. at 341, 748 S.E.2d at 206 (citing Gregory at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534 (internal quotations omitted)). Pursuant to this standard, Petitioner cannot establish the requisite prejudice necessary for relief, as Gregory's testimony and report are not facts raising an inference or presumption of innocence because they are not facts or circumstances that tend to clearly point out someone else as the guilty party. Evidence of Jacobs initially informing the first responding officer that a passenger from a white

² The State notes that third party guilt was not specifically raised to the PCR court and questions whether this discussion is preserved.

SUV fired shots is not inconsistent with Petitioner’s guilt, nor does it raise a “‘reasonable inference’—and certainly not a presumption”—of Petitioner’s innocence. See Id. Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish that he was prejudiced because such testimony would not have aided his third-party guilt defense. Certiorari is not warranted to address this issue.

II. Kamelah Wilson’s testimony would not have changed the jury’s verdict.

Next, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel was ineffective in failing to call Kamelah Wilson as a witness. Wilson’s testimony would not have changed the result of the trial because her testimony does not directly refute Jacobs’ testimony.

Wilson provided testimony at the PCR hearing. She testified that she was present at the H&J Club the night of the shooting. (App. p. 1786). She explained that an unknown person pulled a gun in the club and people then scattered out of the club. (App. p. 1787-88). Wilson testified that she ran out of the club and across the street where she heard “a whole bunch of gunshots . . .” Id. She further testified that Jacobs was already across the street before the shooting started. (App. p. 1788-89). She testified that Jacobs would not have been able to see the shooting from his vantage point. (App. p. 1791). She explained that Jacobs had a house across the street from the club. (App. p. 1793).

First, Counsel conducted a reasonable investigation of witnesses who were present at the club the night of the incident. Wilson testified that she was not contacted by Counsel and never spoke to law enforcement about what she saw. Counsel’s decision not to call witnesses to preserve last closing argument was reasonable. This issue turns on whether Wilson’s testimony would have changed the result of the trial. It is important to note that the PCR court found Wilsons’ testimony *not* credible. (App. p. 1838). This Court gives great deference to a PCR

judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved. Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (citations omitted).

The PCR court's finding that Wilson's testimony would not have changed the result of the trial is supported by the evidence. The PCR court found Wilson's testimony not credible. (App. p. 1838). Wilson's testimony at the PCR hearing was given over six (6) years after the incident. Wilson's testimony, even if taken as true, does not refute Jacobs' account of the shooting. The only substantive difference between Jacobs' and Wilson's testimony is that Wilson did not believe Jacobs could see the shots coming from the Suburban. In any event, Jacobs' testimony was inconsistent as he was thoroughly impeached throughout cross-examination by both Counsel and Swerling. Wilson's testimony would not have only added a few points for Counsel to make on her cross examination of Jacobs. The jury likely believed Jacobs despite his inconsistent testimony, so Petitioner is unable to prove that a point about Jacobs' line of sight would have changed the result of the trial. This Court should deny certiorari on this issue.

III. Counsel was not deficient in failing to move to sever his case from codefendant Wray's case. If made, the motion would have been denied.

Petitioner next argues that the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel ineffective for failing to move to sever his case from codefendant Wray's case. "Criminal defendants who are jointly tried [...] are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right." State v. Dennis 337 S.C. 275, 281, 523 SE2d 173, 176 (1999) (citing State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998); State v. Holland, 261 S.C. 488, 201 S.E.2d 118 (1973); State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972)). "Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they 1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances; 2) are proved by the same evidence, 3) are of the same general nature; and 4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced." State v.

Beekman 405 S.C. 225, 229, 746 S.E.2d 483, 486 (2013). A court should only grant a severance “when there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a co-defendant or prevent a jury from making a reliable judgment about a co-defendant's guilt.” Id. at 282, 523 S.E.2d at 176.

Here, the PCR court was correct in finding Petitioner’s rights were not compromised or violated because he stood trial with codefendant Wray. Petitioner argued that he “was painted by the jury with the same broad brush of guilty [sic] as applied to Wray.” (PWC p. 21). While Counsel testified that in hindsight, she should have attempted to have the cases severed by making a motion, it would have been of no consequence to the result of the trial. The evidence presented against codefendant Wray was stronger which allowed Petitioner to argue that he was less culpable. The testimony presented showed that codefendant Wray involved other in disposing of the handgun that was fired the night of the incident. (App. p. 1152-1231). It was reasonable under prevailing professional norms not to move for a severance, chiefly because the motion would have been futile. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 67 (1999) (attorney not deficient for failing to make futile arguments).

As to the prejudice prong, the PCR court did not err in finding that the motion to sever the case would have been unsuccessful. The incident that Petitioner and codefendant Wray were charged on was based out of the exact same circumstances, was proved by the exact same evidence, and was of the same exact nature. Finally, no specific trial right was violated by trying Petitioner and codefendant Wray together. Petitioner only argues that he was less culpable than codefendant Wray and fails to identify any specific trial right that was violated. Certiorari is not warranted to address this issue.

IV. Counsel was not deficient in failing to move to question individual members of the jury on their impartiality after a juror was dismissed for allegedly stating he would convict the defendants.

Lastly, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in not finding Counsel ineffective for failing to question members of the jury on their impartiality. Petitioner argued Counsel was deficient in failing to request that the trial judge question the members of the jury on their impartiality after a juror was removed from the panel. During the trial, a juror came forward and told the trial judge that she overheard another juror saying he would convict the defendant while on his cell phone. (App. p. 51-67).

In addition, the PCR court did not err in finding that Petitioner did not suffer any prejudiced from this alleged deficiency because there was no evidence showing that any jurors were impartial. Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof as no evidence was presented to support this allegation. Petitioner argues that questioning the reporting juror was not enough and that other jurors may have heard the comments. But, there was no evidence presented to support this contention. The PCR court was correct not to speculate and presume a juror was impartial because of the comments made one juror. See Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415 (1998) (“failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result.”). This Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court’s ruling as there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court’s denial of Petitioner’s application. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.